Gene therapy of focal cerebral ischemia using defective recombinant adeno-associated virus vectors

Tung-Han Tsai 1, Show-Li Chen 2, Xiao Xiao 3, Yung-Hsiao Chiang 1 and Yeou-Ping Tsao 4

¹ Department of Neurosurgery, Tri-Service General Hospital, Taipei, Taiwan, ² Department of Microbiology and Immunology, National Defense Medical Center, Taipei, Taiwan, ³ Department of Molecular Genetics and Biochemistry, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15261, ⁴ Department of Ophthalmology, Mackay Memorial Hospital, Taipei, Taiwan.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1 Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Viral vector for stroke gene therapy
- 4. Methodology of stroke gene therapy
 - 4.1. Production of high titer recombinant adeno-associated virus
 - 4.2. Tri-vessels occlusion model of focal cerebral ischemia
- 5. Murine models of focal cerebral ischemia
 - 5.1. Conventional 3VO model
 - 5.2. modified 3VO model
 - 5.3. Intraluminal filament thread model
- 6. Therapeutic transgenes in stroke
 - 6.1. Reduction of brain edema
 - 6.2. Amelioration of reactive oxygen species effects
 - 6.3. Improving energy delivery
 - 6.4. Reduction of intracellular calcium effect
 - 6.5. Anti-inflammatory peptides
 - 6.6. Apoptosis mediators
 - 6.7. Neurotrophic factors
- 7. Summary and Perspectives
- 8. Acknowledgements
- 9. References

1. ABSTRACT

This review presents our experience and results concerning cerebral stroke gene therapy with a rat model subjected to rAAV-vector delivered IL-1ra and GDNF. The methodology involving the production of high-titer recombinant adeno-associated virus vectors in the absence of helper adenovirus and the creation of a tri-vessel ligation model of focal ischemic cerebral stroke in rats are described in detail. Furthermore, a literature review of other viral vectors, murine models of focal cerebral ischemia and candidates for therapeutic transgenes used for cerebral stroke gene therapy are presented. Lastly, the potentials and limitations of stroke gene therapy are discussed adding an analysis of possibilities of future experiment designs.

2. INTRODUCTION

Gene therapy is defined as the use of nucleic acid transfer to treat or prevent diseases. Originally envisioned as treatments for hereditary disease, it is now being developed to prevent complex polygenic diseases. Genetic therapy requires the understanding of the disease's pathogenesis, identification of therapeutic genes, the ability to target the tissue of interest (brain, blood vessel), and

appropriate animal models to probe the therapy (1). There are a number of degenerative and cerebrovascular occlusive diseases where the resulting CNS pathology may be ameliorated, or even prevented, following the introduction of specific genes into the CNS. Significant advances have been made towards these aims by a number of investigators who have demonstrated successful gene transfer into the adult CNS. Gene therapy has several potential advantages pharmacological classical therapy. administration of DNA into the brain offers the advantage of producing high concentrations of therapeutic agents in a relatively localized environment. Gene transfer also provides longer effect than traditional drug therapy. are compounds that encase exogenous complementary DNA (cDNA) and transport it into cells during gene transfer. They are the key determinants of the success of gene therapy (2).

3. VIRAL VECTOR FOR STROKE GENE THERAPY

The three prevailing viral vector systems used for this purpose include the herpes simplex virus type-1 (HSV-1) (3), the adenovirus vector (4) and the adeno-associated virus (5). The first two viral vectors are limited by their short expression duration. Potential reasons for this include episomal existence in cells (6), immunological rejection of transduced cells (4), or promoter shut-off (7). There also is usually accompanied substantial neurotoxicity (6-9) that to date has not been surmounted (8). Further increased titers of these vectors can lead to neural damage (6).

The third viral vector system utilizes the adenoassociated virus (AAV) which is a common parvovirus that has no known associated human pathology (10). Replication-defective AAV vectors (rAAV) are also nonpathogenic in humans and can efficiently transducer cells in the spinal cord (11), retina (12), lung (13, 14), gut (15), and brain (16-21), 96% of the viral genome are removed from the vector of modern AAV vectors leaving only the two 145-base pairs (bp) inverted terminal repeats (TRs) which are sufficient for packing and integration (22-23). The absence of viral sequences implies that no de novo protein synthesis occurs following transduction, minimizing the amount of foreign protein available to trigger immune response. No detectable cellular (CTL) immune response was observed in these analyses (24-26) and the presence of neutralizing antibodies may not pose a serious problem in brain delivery via rAAV vectors due to the blood-brain barrier. However, the production of neutralizing antibodies following intramuscular and intravenous rAAV deliver has been detected (26). A number of investigators have already shown that rAAV vectors can successfully transfer genes to the CNS of mice and rats. Such information favors AAV as a promising vector for CNS gene transfer.

4. METHOLOGY OF STROKE GENE TERAPY

4.1. Production of high titer recombinant adenoassociated virus

The rAAV-LacZ viral vectors were produced by cotransfection methods according to published protocols with modifications 27). Briefly, 1-2 hr before transfection. twenty 15-cm-diameter dishes of 293-cells (human embryonic kidney cells) at 80% confluence were fed with 25 ml of fresh Iscove modified Eagle medium (Gibco BRL, Gaithersburg, MD, USA) containing 10% fetal calf serum (FCS - HyClone, South Logan, UT) without antibiotics. A total of 49µg of plasmid DNA (16µg rAAV-LacZ plasmid, 8µg of pXX2 which encode Rep and Cap proteins, and 25µg of pXX6 which encode adenovirus gene products) were dissolved in 2 ml of 0.25 M CaCl₂ and then quickly mixed with 2 ml of HEPES-buffered saline (50mM HEPES, 280 mM NaCl, 1.5 mM Na2HPO₄ of pH 7.2) and added to the transfect 293-cells in each 15-cm-diameter dish. At 8 to 12h after transfection, the medium was placed with fresh Dulbecco modified Eagle medium (DMEM) (Gibco, BRL, Gaithersburg, MD, USA) containing 10% FCS and antibiotics. Cells from 80 dishes were harvested 48 hr post-transfection and resuspended in 40 ml of OptiMEM medium (Gibco, BRL, Gaithersburg, MD, USA), lyzed with three repeats of freeze and thaw. Cell lysates were digested with 4000 units of DNase (Sigma chemical Co., St. Louis, MO, USA) and 1 mg of RNase (Sigma chemical Co., St. Louis, MO, USA) at 37 °C for 30

min and deoxycholate (Sigma chemical Co., St. Louis, MO, USA) was added to a final concentration of 1%. The mixture was then homogenated and CsCl was added to a final density of 1.37 g/ml. CsCl density gradient purification was then carried out as previously published (26). Titers of rAAV-LacZ were determined by slot blot analysis to calculate concentration of viral particles. 20µl of rAAV-LacZ from the CsCl gradient fractions was digested with DNase I and Proteinase K (Sigma chemical Co., St. Louis, MO, USA). Then single strand DNA from rAAV-LacZ was extracted by phenol/chloroform extraction and precipitated by ethyl alcohol. The pellet was dissolved in 0.2 ml 0.4N NaOH/10mM EDTA and then immobilized on Hybond positively charged nylon membrane (Amersham Biosciences Co, Piscataway, NJ, USA) by using a vacuum slot blot apparatus (Schleicher & Schuell Co, Riviera Beach, Florida, USA). Recombinant AAV vector plasmid (pXX/LacZ) was serially diluted in 10-fold with 0.4N NaOH/10mM EDTA and immobilized on the same filter to create a standard curve of DNA concentration. The membrane was hybridized with nonradioactive LacZ probes Dig (Boeringer Mannhem Co, Indianapolis, IN, USA) for 1 hour at 60°C, and washed to remove non-specifically bound probe, reacted with anti-Dig serum and substrate according to the manufacturer's instruction and exposed to Kodak XAR film. Preparation of rAAV-GDNF or rAAV-IL1-ra was the same as described above except for pXX/LacZ, which was replaced by pXX/GDNF or pXX/IL-1-ra plasmid (28).

While conducting our study, we found that the most critical step of the experiment was to establish a reproducible cerebral ischemic damage and to synthesize high titer quality rAAV. The latter was found to be relay crucially on DNA transfection efficiency since three plasmids had to be simultaneously delivered into the same cells for the synthesis of viral particles. DNA was purified with endotoxin free purification system (Qiagen Inc, Valencia, CA, USA). 293-cells were maintained in log phase growing condition. The transfection condition was refined by comparing different batches of HeBS solution. Transfection efficiency was maintained above 90%. A successful transfection indicator was a uniform cytopathic morphologic changes of the transfected 293-cells caused by XX6 plasmid encoding adenovirus genes at 48 hr after transfection.

4.2. Tri-vessels occlusion (3VO) model of focal cerebral ischemia $\,$

Adult male Sprague-Dawley rats weighing between 450 to 600 gm were used. The rats were allowed free access to water and rat chow until surgery. Surgery leading to focal cerebral ischemia was conducted under anesthesia with 10 ml/kg i.p. 4% chloral hydrate. Rectal temperature was monitored with thermocouples and was maintained at 37.0 ± 0.5 ? with a heating pad. Physiological parameters including the plasma glucose concentration, arterial blood pressure, and pulse rate were monitored and maintained within normal ranges as described previously (28,29). Cerebral ischemia was induced y clamping the carotid arteries. The bilateral common carotid arteries were identified and isolated by passing a suture around each

artery through an anterior ventral midline cervical incision. This procedure was completed prior to MCA ligation. The right medial cerebral artery (MCA) was exposed using microsurgical techniques.

Animals were placed on a stereotactic frame (Stoelting, Wooddale, IL USA) and operated under a surgical microscope. Following a 2-cm vertical scalp incision midway between the right eye and ear, the temporalis muscle was split and retracted in order to expose the zygoma and squamosal bone. A craniotomy of around 2 X 2 mm² was drilled at the junction of zygomatic arch and the squamosal bone. Care was taken as described above to avoid thermal or physical injury to the cortex during preparation of the craniotomy. The right MCA trunk was then isolated and ligated immediately above the rhinal fissure with Nylon 10-0. Then, the bilaterally isolated common carotids were occluded temporary with nontraumatic aneurysm arterial clips for 90 minutes. During this time, four burr holes were drilled in the skull (from bregma: AP=0.4, ML=0.9, DV=3.5; AP=0, ML=4, DV=2; AP=-3, ML=4.2, DV=2; AP=-6, ML=4.4, DV=2).

Meanwhile, 1.0 x 10¹⁰ viral particles of rAAV-GDNF, rAAV-IL1ra and rAAV-LacZ in 5µl of phosphate buffered solution (PBS) or PBS (mock) was injected into the right cerebral hemisphere through a microliter syringe (Hamilton Company, Reno, NV, USA) fitted with a 27gauge needle at 0.5µl/min perfusion rate. After the injection, the needle was left in place for 4 minutes before being slowly withdrawn from the brain. After the predetermined duration of ischemia (90 minutes) was reached, the MCA ligation was untied and the clips at the common carotids were removed to restore internal carotid artery and MCA blood flow. Restoration of blood flow in all three arteries was observed directly under the microscope. The craniotomy was covered with a small piece of gel foam. The temporalis muscle and the overlying skin were allowed to fall back and were sutured individually. Free access to food and water was allowed after recovery from anesthesia (28).

5. MURINE MODELS OF FOCAL CEREBRAL ISCHEMIA

Laboratory reproduction necessitates standardizing the degree and variance in the animal model of focal cerebral ischemia. This is also essential for evaluation of the absolute risk reduction and its estimation in clinical studies.

5.1. Conventional 3VO model

Similarly to the technique employed in our study, a reproducible induction of temporary cerebral ischemia was achieved by performing a temporary suture ligation for about 90 minutes. The ligated vessel and its reperfusion after suture removal were both confirmed by direct visualization under the microscope. The temporary 3VO-model with complete three-vessel-release was a more complicated procedure, especially when ligating and releasing the MCA with Nylon 10-0. It's more difficult to

perform in the mice model than in the rat one, and more microsurgical skills and practice were needed.

5.2. Modified 3VO model

The modified 3VO temporary cerebral ischemia model in rats and in mice was developed by H. Yanamoto *et al* (30). The technique consists of a permanent occlusion of the proximal MCA with reversible occlusion of bilateral common carotid arteries (CCAs) for 2 hours. The induced temporary focal cerebral ischemia was reproducible with successful achievement of neocortical infarction in normotensive rats and mice. The skill needed for permanent cauterization of MCA with bipolar forceps was easier than the ones for transient ligation of MCA with Nylon 10-0, especially in the mice animal model.

5.3. Intraluminal thread-induced MCA occlusion model

Koizumi et al. (31) and Longa et al. (32) introduced the intraluminal thread occlusion model without the need for craniotomy. This technique aimed to obstruct the orifice of the MCA along with the proximal internal carotid artery (ICA) in normotensive rats, producing a consistent infarction lesion in the basal ganglia.

Analysis of the infarction size showed that it expanded into the neocortex. The reported data demonstrated that the absolute infarction size in the neocortex varied with no correlation to ischemic duration. In order to exclude cases of thread-derived traumatic subarachnoid hemorrhage (in 44% of cases), which resulted in a large variability of the infarction size, bilateral monitoring of cerebral perfusion in each rat was deemed essential. To obtain a less variable infarction value, the authors concluded that appropriated exclusion of a subgroup (34%) that underwent ischemic challenge in experimental groups was necessary in the thread occlusion model (33).

The conventional 3VO and/or modified 3VO stroke models targeted the neocortex, which basically did not require exclusion in experimental animals or monitoring of the cerebral perfusion during ischemia as did the intraluminal thread-occlusion model. While the modified 3VO stroke model required less complicated microsurgical procedures than the conventional one, nevertheless it still could consistently produce temporary neocortical ischemia.

6. THERAPEUTIC TRANSGENES IN STROKE

Ischemia-induced brain injury is a major cause of mortality worldwide (34-36) for which there is no effective therapy to date. The pathogenic processes involved in neuronal cell death are increasingly better understood resulting in experimental gene transfer applications to prevent ischemia-induced neuronal cell death. Currently, gene therapy for cerebral ischemia is primarily concerned with the fundamental mechanisms of neuronal loss: depolarization-induced calcium entry via NMDA receptors (37-40), intracellular free radical generation (41-42), damage to mitochondrial respiratory enzymes (43-45), energy failure (46,47), nitric oxide synthesis (48-52),

inflammatory cytokine network (53-55), and induction of programmed cell death (56-62).

6.1. Reduction of brain edema

Cranial fluid imbalances, including edema and elevated intracranial pressure, are major influential factors in the pathophysiology of acute head trauma, stroke and numerous other neurological diseases (63, 64). Recent studies have indicated that recently identified molecular water channels called aquaporin, recently identified in animals (65, 66), may play an important role in brain edema. This presents new therapeutic possibilites. Aquaporins are found in several cell types, including the kidney, lung and other fluid-transporting tissues where water flow is driven by osmotic gradients and hydrostatic pressure differences. These small integral membrane proteins function primarily as bidirectional water-selective transporters in many cell types in the. Aquaporin-4 (AQP4) is abundantly expressed throughout the brain, particularly at the blood-brain and brain-cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) interface. The specific localization of AQP4 to these anatomical and cellular regions of the central nervous system suggests a role for AQP4 in cerebral water balance. Well-characterized experimental models of water intoxication (67) and ischemia stroke (68, 69) were used to produce cerebral edema in wild-type (AQP4+++) and AQP4 null (AQP --) mice. New promising therapies for controlling brain edema and other cranial water transport imbalances in a wide variety of neurological disorders (70) may be possible through the inhibition of AQP4.

6.2. Amelioration of reactive oxygen species effects

There is much new research providing evidence of improvements in reactive oxygen species effects in cerebral ischemia. The heat shock protein, which is one of the immediately early genes expressed after stroke (71, 72), have putative therapeutic potential for limiting cerebral damage. Also, the exogenous administration of melatonin in experimental stroke models demonstrated reduction of infarct volume, lower frequency of apoptosis, increasing number of surviving neurons, reduction of reactive gliosis, lower oxidation of neural lipids and oxidative damaged DNA, induction of bcl-2 gene expression (the activity of which improves cell survival), upregulation of excision repair cross-complementing factor 6 (an essential gene for preferential DNA excision repair), restrained poly (ADP ribose) synthetase (which depletes cellular NAD resulting in the loss of ATP) activity, and improvements in neurophysiologic outcomes. Under no circumstances did melatonin exacerbate the damage associated with ischemia/reperfusion injury (73).

SAG (sensitive to apoptosis gene) is a recently cloned antioxidant protein which experiments demonstrate its ability to reduce stroke extent in a MCA occlusion mouse model (42). This gene was delivered by direct injection via an adenoviral vector into ischemia putamen. Its overexpression protected ischemic neurons against apoptosis by reducing the level of reactive oxygen species. Moreover, such antioxidants as superoxide dimutases, catalase, or glutathione peroxidase, may all reduce the damage produced by oxygen radicals (74).

6.3. Improving energy delivery

Neuroprotection against ischemia and excitotoxic insults may be achieved through the overexpression of the glucose transporter GLUT-1 via herpes simplex virus or adenoviral vectors (75, 76).

6.4. Reduction of intracellular calcium effect

Yenari et al. demonstrated that herpes vectormediated delivery of calbindin protein to the rat striatum, which acts as an intracellular buffer, could improve the survival of striatal neurons. (77)

6.5. Anti-inflammation peptides

Interleukin-1 (IL-1) has been identified as an important mediator for neurodegeneration induced by experimental cerebral ischemia (stroke), excitatory or traumatic brain injury in rodents (78-80). The interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra) is an endogenous molecule that inhibits the activity of interleukin-1 (81). Local synthesis of IL-1ra achieved by adenovirus-mediated gene delivery could attenuate ischemic inflammatory response and reduce both infarction volume and cerebral edema induced by ischemic brain injury. These findings not only confirmed the involvement of IL-1 in the pathogenesis of ischemiainduced damage, but also established the feasibility of gene therapy for ischemia-induced injury using IL-1ra (82-84). In our study, we injected recombinant adeno-associated virus (rAAV) vectors expressing the interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (rAAV-IL-1ra) into the cortex of rats experiencing transient cerebral ischemia.

An accumulation of IL-1ra in the cortical tissues of rAAV-IL-1ra-injected animals was confirmed by ELISA. Triphenyltetrazolium chloride (TTC) staining of viable brain tissue revealed that the rAAV-delivered IL-1ra gene could rescue the brain tissues from ischemia-induced injury. Cortical tissues that received rAAV-IL-1ra injections exhibited significantly smaller total volumes of infarction and smaller areas of infarction on each brain slice when compared with the control models (1).

The leukocyte adhesion receptors, P-selectine, ICAM-1 and E-selectin, are expressed in sequence by microvascular endothelium with in the ischemic territory (85-88). Studies using selective inhibitors to these receptors have shown the importance of these adhesion molecules in the stroke model. Smaller lesions were observed in rats treated with antibodies against MAC01 the leukocyte counterpart to ICAM-1) or ICAM-1 after transient MCA occlusion (89, 90). Further, the combination of tissue plasminogen activator and anti-CD18 provides significantly improved outcomes, and may increase the therapeutic time window in stroke (91).

6.6. Apoptosis mediators

The neuroprotective effects of overexpressing neuronal apoptosis-inhibiting proteins, including Bcl-2, which inhibits cytochrome-c release, have been demonstrated in several reports (92, 93). Y-Sun et. al. injected the vector-delivered BCL-w, an anti-apoptotic protein in the Bcl-2 family, into the cerebral cortex and the striatum of experimental animals. Three weeks later,

temporary focal ischemia was induced by occluding the ipsilateral MCA for 90 min, followed by reperfusion for 24h. Recipients of the rAAV-BCL-w vector showed a 30% reduction in infarct size and 33~40% improvement in neurological function, compared to the control groups. The result provided evidence that BCL-w can influence the overall histological and functional outcomes after focal cerebral ischemia (94).

6.7. Neurotrophic factors

Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) is a member of the TGF-ß superfamily (95). It is involved in the differentiation of neurons during normal development as well as the survival and recovery of significant number mature neurons. In vitro and in vivo research has demonstrated the protective effects of GDNG to the central and peripheral nervous system after being subjected to various injuries. Intra-cerebroventricular and intraparenchymal administration of GDNF significantly protects the cerebral cortex from ischemia-induce injury (28, 96-98). We injected rAAV vectors expressing GDNF (rAAV-GDNF) into the cortex of rats experiencing transient bilateral CCA and right MCA ligation for 90 minutes. GDNF levels in the cortical tissues of rAAV-GDNFinjected animals were significantly higher than in the control ones injected with rAAV-expressing lacZ (rAAVlacZ). This result indicates that rAAV can successfully deliver and express the GDNF gene in cerebral cortical tissues. Triphenyltetrazolium chloride tissue stain analysis revealed that the rAAV-delivered GDNF gene could rescue the brain tissues from ischemia-induced injury. Cortical tissues which received rAAV-GDNF injections had both significantly smaller total volumes and areas of infarction on each brain slice than those ones which were injected with rAAV-lacZ. An in situ labeling analysis demonstrated significantly less apoptotic cells in cortical tissues rescued by rAAV-GDNF, indicating prevention of apoptosis as the mechanism of cortical cell protection (28).

Neurotrophic growth factors, including basic fibroblast growth factor, cilliary neurotrophic factor, vascular endothelial growth factor (99-102), and Neuregulin-1 (NRG-1), are all potential gene transfer agents that await further study.

Neuregulin-1 (NRG-1), for example, is expressed throughout the immature and adult central nervous system. Its influence on the migration of a variety of cell types in the developing brain has been demonstrated. Elevated levels of NRG-1 and erbB4 in the peri-infarct regions of the ipsilateral cortex were found in the adult brain after injury 24 h post MCA occlusion. This suggests that NRG-1 is involved in the physiological response to neuronal injury. Increased motor performance and reduced cerebral infarction were observed in rats which were pre-treated with the NRG-1 protein 30 min prior to undergoing experimental cerebral ischemia. Ischemia in the cortex of NRG-1 treated rats induced a decrease in caspase-3 immunoreactivity and a reduction in the density of cells positive for terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase-mediated dUTP-biotin in situ nick end-labeling. Improvement in behavioral assays was also found in animals treated with NRG-1(103). The reduced ischemia or reperfusion injury by NRG-1, indicates it is a possible endogenous neuroprotective agent against stroke and therefore presents a promising research target in the development of new treatments for stroke.

7. SUMMARY AND PERSPECTIVES

A benefit of adeno-associated virus vectors is that they produce minimal immune response post intra-cerebral injection (24). While the gene sequence that can be inserted into this vector is severely limited by its relatively small size, the majority of genes encoding therapeutic factors are within the size parameter. Further, simultaneous gene transfer using two separate AAVs carrying different gene inserts (104-106) overcomes this problem. Also, the difficulty in producing rAAVs on a large scale fortunately has be reduced by several recent technological advances in vector production, purification, and titration which enable significant increases (>10-fold) in production capacity. Several current methods for the production of high titer rAAV (10⁴ particles/cell level) should enable widespread use of this technology for clinical applications (107,108). Since CNS gene therapy requires relatively smaller amounts of viruses in comparison to that needed in other organs, rAAV-mediated gene therapy in the CNS system is preferred.

Achieving selective expression of the transferred genes in target tissues without widespread effects on other organs is one challenge that researchers are addressing. Targeting tissue-specific cell-surface makers (receptor targeting) for selectively binding viral vectors and using promoters that are active only in specific cell types linked to transgenes (transcriptional targeting) are some of the newest methods currently being developed for tissue-specific expression of transgenes. Both methods have proven successful offering increased promise for eventual use in the clinic (109-112).

Investigations into other potential gene therapy applications for cerebral ischemia are underway. For example the use of gene therapy to promote of angiogenesis in regions of the brain exposed to chronic ischemia thereby preventing stroke or cognitive impairment is being explored. Recent clinical trials for ischemic heart disease using vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) in animal models also show promise for cerebral therapeutic angiogenesis (113). Maria et al. showed that treatment with rAAV-VEGF, 6 days or 12 days before the ischemic event, significantly improved survival rates, brain edema, CA1 delayed neuronal death, and post-ischemic learning. Animals treated with rAAV-VEGF showed a significant immunostaining for VEGF in the thalamus and the cortex, similar to those ones subjected only to brain ischemia (114).

Gene therapy may help in the prevention of post angioplasty re-stenosis due to intimal hyperplasia (115,116). Neo-intimal hyperplasia may be inhibited by gene transfer of endothelial nitric oxide synthases, cell

cycle regulators such as P53, antisense oligonucleotides, or transcription factors. VEGF can induce the production of endothelial nitric oxide and prostacyclins, leading to inhibition of vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation. Localized gene expression was successfully achieved with adeno-associated viral vector delivered into common carotid artery of rats (117). Jiang et al. (118) subjected rats to MCA occlusion, followed by continuous peritoneal injections of bromodeoxyuridine (BrdUrd). Their research showed that newly dividing progenitors incorporated BrdUrd, which were then found to be localized in the ischemic penumbra, suggesting an endogenous repair activity. Evidence from in vitro and in vivo systems indicates that bFGF, epidermal growth factor (EGF) and transforming growth factor-a (TGF-a) increase the proliferation of neural stem cells. Both EGF and bFGF expand the SVZ progenitor population after infusion into the lateral ventricle of the adult rat brain. Lastly, gene therapy may be an important tool to manipulate the endogenous precursors of growth factors, which is complementary to standard pharmacological therapies such as drug or protein infusion.

There is still much work to be done in the understanding and development of gene therapy for human cerebrovascular disease. New techniques must be developed in order to optimize targeting and vector delivery, enhance expression and viability of transgenic products, and minimize immune response. Further the development of safer and more effective vectors, improvement of vector delivery to cerebral penumbra or cerebral blood vessels, extended transfection period in chronic vascular disease and very early transfection in acute ischemia are all areas which need significant improvement. Finally, there must be a better understanding and recognition of the optimal genes selected for delivery in stroke gene therapy.

8. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We are grateful to Daniel L. Altschuler and Shu-I Yeh for editing the English of the manuscript.

9. REFERENCES

- 1. Tsai, T. H., S. L. Chen, X. Xiao, Y. H. Chiang, S. Z. Lin, S. W. Kuo, D. W. Liu & Y. P. Tsao: Gene treatment of cerebral stroke by rAAV vector delivering IL-1ra in a rat model. *Neuroreport*, 14, 803-7 (2003)
- 2. Tsai, T. H., S. L. Chen, X. Xiao, D. W. Liu & Y. P. Tsao: Gene therapy for treatment of cerebral ischemia using defective recombinant adeno-associated virus vectors. *Methods*, 28, 253-8 (2002)
- 3. Bloom, D. C., N. T. Maidment, A. Tan, V. B. Dissette, L. T. Feldman & J. G. Stevens: Long-term expression of a reporter gene from latent herpes simplex virus in the rat hippocampus. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res*, 31, 48-60 (1995)
- 4. Byrnes, A. P., J. E. Rusby, M. J. Wood & H. M. Charlton: Adenovirus gene transfer causes inflammation in the brain. *Neuroscience*, 66, 1015-24 (1995)
- 5. Hallek, M. & C. M. Wendtner: Recombinant adenoassociated virus (rAAV) vectors for somatic gene therapy:

- recent advances and potential clinical applications. *Cytokines Mol Ther*, 2, 69-79 (1996)
- 6. Akli, S., C. Caillaud, E. Vigne, L. D. Stratford-Perricaudet, L. Poenaru, M. Perricaudet, A. Kahn & M. R. Peschanski: Transfer of a foreign gene into the brain using adenovirus vectors. *Nat Genet*, 3, 224-8 (1993)
- 7. Prosch, S., J. Stein, K. Staak, C. Liebenthal, H. D. Volk & D. H. Kruger: Inactivation of the very strong HCMV immediate early promoter by DNA CpG methylation in vitro. *Biol Chem Hoppe Seyler*, 377, 195-201 (1996)
- 8. Pakzaban, P., A. I. Geller & O. Isacson: Effect of exogenous nerve growth factor on neurotoxicity of and neuronal gene delivery by a herpes simplex amplicon vector in the rat brain. *Hum Gene Ther*, 5, 987-95 (1994)
- 9. Le Gal La Salle, G., J. J. Robert, S. Berrard, V. Ridoux, L. D. Stratford-Perricaudet, M. Perricaudet & J. Mallet: An adenovirus vector for gene transfer into neurons and glia in the brain. *Science*, 259, 988-90 (1993)
- 10. Blacklow, N. R., M. D. Hoggan, A. Z. Kapikian, J. B. Austin & W. P. Rowe: Epidemiology of adenovirus-associated virus infection in a nursery population. *Am J Epidemiol*, 88, 368-78 (1968)
- 11. Keir, S. D., X. Xiao, J. Li & P. G. Kennedy: Adenoassociated virus-mediated delivery of glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor protects motor neuron-like cells from apoptosis. *J Neurovirol*, 7, 437-46 (2001)
- 12. Zolotukhin, S., M. Potter, W. W. Hauswirth, J. Guy & N. Muzyczka: A "humanized" green fluorescent protein cDNA adapted for high-level expression in mammalian cells. *J Virol*, 70, 4646-54 (1996)
- 13. Afione, S. A., C. K. Conrad, W. G. Kearns, S. Chunduru, R. Adams, T. C. Reynolds, W. B. Guggino, G. R. Cutting, B. J. Carter & T. R. Flotte: In vivo model of adeno-associated virus vector persistence and rescue. *J Virol*, 70, 3235-41 (1996)
- 14. Flotte, T. R., S. A. Afione, C. Conrad, S. A. McGrath, R. Solow, H. Oka, P. L. Zeitlin, W. B. Guggino & B. J. Carter: Stable in vivo expression of the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator with an adenoassociated virus vector. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 90, 10613-7 (1993)
- 15. During, M. J., R. Xu, D. Young, M. G. Kaplitt, R. S. Sherwin & P. Leone: Peroral gene therapy of lactose intolerance using an adeno-associated virus vector. *Nat Med*, 4, 1131-5 (1998)
- 16. Alexander, I. E., D. W. Russell, A. M. Spence & A. D. Miller: Effects of gamma irradiation on the transduction of dividing and nondividing cells in brain and muscle of rats by adeno-associated virus vectors. *Hum Gene Ther*, 7, 841-50 (1996)
- 17. Doll, R. F., J. E. Crandall, C. A. Dyer, J. M. Aucoin & F. I. Smith: Comparison of promoter strengths on gene delivery into mammalian brain cells using AAV vectors. *Gene Ther*, 3, 437-47 (1996)
- 18. Mandel, R. J., R. O. Snyder & S. E. Leff: Recombinant adeno-associated viral vector-mediated glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor gene transfer protects nigral dopamine neurons after onset of progressive degeneration in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. *Exp Neurol*, 160, 205-14 (1999)
- 19. Mochizuki, H., H. Hayakawa, M. Migita, M. Shibata, R. Tanaka, A. Suzuki, Y. Shimo-Nakanishi, T. Urabe, M.

- Yamada, K. Tamayose, T. Shimada, M. Miura & Y. Mizuno: An AAV-derived Apaf-1 dominant negative inhibitor prevents MPTP toxicity as antiapoptotic gene therapy for Parkinson's disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 98, 10918-23 (2001)
- 20. Kaplitt, M. G., P. Leone, R. J. Samulski, X. Xiao, D. W. Pfaff, K. L. O'Malley & M. J. During: Long-term gene expression and phenotypic correction using adenoassociated virus vectors in the mammalian brain. *Nat Genet*, 8, 148-54 (1994)
- 21. McCown, T. J., X. Xiao, J. Li, G. R. Breese & R. J. Samulski: Differential and persistent expression patterns of CNS gene transfer by an adeno-associated virus (AAV) vector. *Brain Res*, 713, 99-107 (1996)
- 22. McLaughlin, S. K., P. Collis, P. L. Hermonat & N. Muzyczka: Adeno-associated virus general transduction vectors: analysis of proviral structures. *J Virol*, 62, 1963-73 (1988)
- 23. Samulski, R. J., L. S. Chang & T. Shenk: Helper-free stocks of recombinant adeno-associated viruses: normal integration does not require viral gene expression. *J Virol*, 63, 3822-8 (1989)
- 24. Davidson, B. L., C. S. Stein, J. A. Heth, I. Martins, R. M. Kotin, T. A. Derksen, J. Zabner, A. Ghodsi & J. A. Chiorini: Recombinant adeno-associated virus type 2, 4, and 5 vectors: transduction of variant cell types and regions in the mammalian central nervous system. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 97, 3428-32 (2000)
- 25. Tal, J.: Adeno-associated virus-based vectors in gene therapy. *J Biomed Sci*, 7, 279-91 (2000)
- 26. Xiao, X., J. Li & R. J. Samulski: Efficient long-term gene transfer into muscle tissue of immunocompetent mice by adeno-associated virus vector. *J Virol*, 70, 8098-108 (1996)
- 27. Xiao, X., J. Li & R. J. Samulski: Production of hightiter recombinant adeno-associated virus vectors in the absence of helper adenovirus. *J Virol*, 72, 2224-32 (1998)
- 28. Tsai, T. H., S. L. Chen, Y. H. Chiang, S. Z. Lin, H. I. Ma, S. W. Kuo & Y. P. Tsao: Recombinant adenoassociated virus vector expressing glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor reduces ischemia-induced damage. *Exp Neurol*, 166, 266-75 (2000)
- 29. Chen, S. T., C. Y. Hsu, E. L. Hogan, H. Maricq & J. D. Balentine: A model of focal ischemic stroke in the rat: reproducible extensive cortical infarction. *Stroke*, 17, 738-43 (1986)
- 30. Yanamoto, H., I. Nagata, Y. Niitsu, J. H. Xue, Z. Zhang & H. Kikuchi: Evaluation of MCAO stroke models in normotensive rats: standardized neocortical infarction by the 3VO technique. *Exp Neurol*, 182, 261-74 (2003)
- 31. Koizumi, J., Yoshida, Y., Nakazawa. T., Ooneda. G., 1986. Experimental studies of ischemic brain edema: a new experimental study of ischemic brain edema: 1. A new experimental model of cerebral embolism in rats in which recirculation can be introduced in the ischemic area. Jpn. *J. stroke*, 8, 1-8.
- 32. Longa, E. Z., P. R. Weinstein, S. Carlson & R. Cummins: Reversible middle cerebral artery occlusion without craniectomy in rats. *Stroke*, 20, 84-91 (1989)
- 33. Schmid-Elsaesser, R., S. Zausinger, E. Hungerhuber, A. Baethmann & H. J. Reulen: A critical reevaluation of the

- intraluminal thread model of focal cerebral ischemia: evidence of inadvertent premature reperfusion and subarachnoid hemorrhage in rats by laser-Doppler flowmetry. *Stroke*, 29, 2162-70 (1998)
- 34. Menotti, A., D. R. Jacobs, Jr., H. Blackburn, D. Kromhout, A. Nissinen, S. Nedeljkovic, R. Buzina, I. Mohacek, F. Seccareccia, S. Giampaoli, A. Dontas, C. Aravanis & H. Toshima: Twenty-five-year prediction of stroke deaths in the seven countries study: the role of blood pressure and its changes. *Stroke*, 27, 381-7 (1996)
- 35. Rastenyte, D., J. Tuomilehto, S. Domarkiene, Z. Cepaitis & R. Reklaitiene: Risk factors for death from stroke in middle-aged Lithuanian men: results from a 20-year prospective study. *Stroke*, 27, 672-6 (1996)
- 36. Brown, R. D., J. P. Whisnant, J. D. Sicks, W. M. O'Fallon & D. O. Wiebers: Stroke incidence, prevalence, and survival: secular trends in Rochester, Minnesota, through 1989. *Stroke*, 27, 373-80 (1996)
- 37. Hajimohammadreza, I., A. W. Probert, L. L. Coughenour, S. A. Borosky, F. W. Marcoux, P. A. Boxer & K. K. Wang: A specific inhibitor of calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase-II provides neuroprotection against NMDA- and hypoxia/hypoglycemia-induced cell death. *J Neurosci*, 15, 4093-101 (1995)
- 38. Vornov, J. J.: Toxic NMDA-receptor activation occurs during recovery in a tissue culture model of ischemia. *J Neurochem*, 65, 1681-91 (1995)
- 39. Dalkara, T., C. Ayata, M. Demirci, G. Erdemli & R. Onur: Effects of cerebral ischemia on N-methyl-D-aspartate and dihydropyridine-sensitive calcium currents. An electrophysiological study in the rat hippocampus in situ. *Stroke*, 27, 127-33 (1996)
- 40. Strijbos, P. J., M. J. Leach & J. Garthwaite: Vicious cycle involving Na+ channels, glutamate release, and NMDA receptors mediates delayed neurodegeneration through nitric oxide formation. *J Neurosci*, 16, 5004-13 (1996)
- 41. Kim, G. W., T. Kondo, N. Noshita & P. H. Chan: Manganese superoxide dismutase deficiency exacerbates cerebral infarction after focal cerebral ischemia/reperfusion in mice: implications for the production and role of superoxide radicals. *Stroke*, 33, 809-15 (2002)
- 42. Yang, G. Y., L. Pang, H. L. Ge, M. Tan, W. Ye, X. H. Liu, F. P. Huang, D. C. Wu, X. M. Che, Y. Song, R. Wen & Y. Sun: Attenuation of ischemia-induced mouse brain injury by SAG, a redox-inducible antioxidant protein. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab*, 21, 722-33 (2001)
- 43. Solenski, N. J., C. G. diPierro, P. A. Trimmer, A. L. Kwan & G. A. Helm: Ultrastructural changes of neuronal mitochondria after transient and permanent cerebral ischemia. *Stroke*, 33, 816-24 (2002)
- 44. Dettmers, C., A. Hartmann, T. Rommel, S. Kramer, S. Pappata, A. Young, S. Hartmann, S. Zierz, E. T. MacKenzie & J. C. Baron: Immersion and perfusion staining with 2,3,5-triphenyltetrazolium chloride (TTC) compared to mitochondrial enzymes 6 hours after MCA-occlusion in primates. *Neurol Res*, 16, 205-8 (1994)
- 45. Dimlich, R. V., M. J. Showers & M. T. Shipley: Densitometric analysis of cytochrome oxidase in ischemic rat brain. *Brain Res*, 516, 181-91 (1990)
- 46. Auer, R. N. & B. K. Siesjo: Biological differences between ischemia, hypoglycemia, and epilepsy. *Ann Neurol*, 24, 699-707 (1988)

- 47. Beal, M. F., K. J. Swartz, S. F. Finn, M. F. Mazurek & N. W. Kowall: Neurochemical characterization of excitotoxin lesions in the cerebral cortex. *J Neurosci*, 11, 147-58 (1991)
- 48. Malinski, T., F. Bailey, Z. G. Zhang & M. Chopp: Nitric oxide measured by a porphyrinic microsensor in rat brain after transient middle cerebral artery occlusion. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab*, 13, 355-8 (1993)
- 49. Kumura, E., H. Kosaka, T. Shiga, T. Yoshimine & T. Hayakawa: Elevation of plasma nitric oxide end products during focal cerebral ischemia and reperfusion in the rat. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab*, 14, 487-91 (1994)
- 50. Sato, S., T. Tominaga, T. Ohnishi & S. T. Ohnishi: Role of nitric oxide in brain ischemia. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 738, 369-73 (1994)
- 51. Hamada, Y., T. Hayakawa, H. Hattori & H. Mikawa: Inhibitor of nitric oxide synthesis reduces hypoxic-ischemic brain damage in the neonatal rat. *Pediatr Res*, 35, 10-4 (1994)
- 52. Zhang, Z. G., D. Reif, J. Macdonald, W. X. Tang, D. K. Kamp, R. J. Gentile, W. C. Shakespeare, R. J. Murray & M. Chopp: ARL 17477, a potent and selective neuronal NOS inhibitor decreases infarct volume after transient middle cerebral artery occlusion in rats. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab*, 16, 599-604 (1996)
- 53. del Zoppo, G., I. Ginis, J. M. Hallenbeck, C. Iadecola, X. Wang & G. Z. Feuerstein: Inflammation and stroke: putative role for cytokines, adhesion molecules and iNOS in brain response to ischemia. *Brain Pathol*, 10, 95-112 (2000)
- 54. Feuerstein, G. Z., X. Wang & F. C. Barone: The role of cytokines in the neuropathology of stroke and neurotrauma. *Neuroimmunomodulation*, 5, 143-59 (1998)
- 55. Rothwell, N., S. Allan & S. Toulmond: The role of interleukin 1 in acute neurodegeneration and stroke: pathophysiological and therapeutic implications. *J Clin Invest*, 100, 2648-52 (1997)
- 56. Gillardon, F., C. Lenz, K. F. Waschke, S. Krajewski, J. C. Reed, M. Zimmermann & W. Kuschinsky: Altered expression of Bcl-2, Bcl-X, Bax, and c-Fos colocalizes with DNA fragmentation and ischemic cell damage following middle cerebral artery occlusion in rats. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res*, 40, 254-60 (1996)
- 57. Matsushita, K., T. Matsuyama, K. Kitagawa, M. Matsumoto, T. Yanagihara & M. Sugita: Alterations of Bcl-2 family proteins precede cytoskeletal proteolysis in the penumbra, but not in infarct centres following focal cerebral ischemia in mice. *Neuroscience*, 83, 439-48 (1998) 58. Isenmann, S., G. Stoll, M. Schroeter, S. Krajewski, J. C. Reed & M. Bahr: Differential regulation of Bax, Bcl-2, and Bcl-X proteins in focal cortical ischemia in the rat. *Brain Pathol.* 8, 49-62; discussion 62-3 (1998)
- 59. Asahi, M., M. Hoshimaru, Y. Uemura, T. Tokime, M. Kojima, T. Ohtsuka, N. Matsuura, T. Aoki, K. Shibahara & H. Kikuchi: Expression of interleukin-1 beta converting enzyme gene family and bcl-2 gene family in the rat brain following permanent occlusion of the middle cerebral artery. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab*, 17, 11-8 (1997)
- 60. Chen, J., S. H. Graham, P. H. Chan, J. Lan, R. L. Zhou & R. P. Simon: bcl-2 is expressed in neurons that survive focal ischemia in the rat. *Neuroreport*, 6, 394-8 (1995)

- 61. Namura, S., J. Zhu, K. Fink, M. Endres, A. Srinivasan, K. J. Tomaselli, J. Yuan & M. A. Moskowitz: Activation and cleavage of caspase-3 in apoptosis induced by experimental cerebral ischemia. *J Neurosci*, 18, 3659-68 (1998)
- 62. Fink, K., J. Zhu, S. Namura, M. Shimizu-Sasamata, M. Endres, J. Ma, T. Dalkara, J. Yuan & M. A. Moskowitz: Prolonged therapeutic window for ischemic brain damage caused by delayed caspase activation. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab*, 18, 1071-6 (1998)
- 63. Klatzo, I.: Evolution of brain edema concepts. *Acta Neurochir* Suppl (Wien), 60, 3-6 (1994) 67.
- 64. Fishman, R. A.: Brain edema. *N Engl J Med*, 293, 706-11 (1975)
- 65. Verkman, A. S., A. N. van Hoek, T. Ma, A. Frigeri, W. R. Skach, A. Mitra, B. K. Tamarappoo & J. Farinas: Water transport across mammalian cell membranes. *Am J Physiol*, 270, C12-30 (1996)
- 66. King, L. S. & P. Agre: Pathophysiology of the aquaporin water channels. *Annu Rev Physiol*, 58, 619-48 (1996)
- 67. Trachtman, H.: Cell volume regulation: a review of cerebral adaptive mechanisms and implications for clinical treatment of osmolal disturbances: II. *Pediatr Nephrol*, 6, 104-12 (1992)
- 68. Hossmann, K. A.: Experimental models for the investigation of brain ischemia. *Cardiovasc Res*, 39, 106-20 (1998)
- 69. Kondo, T., A. G. Reaume, T. T. Huang, E. Carlson, K. Murakami, S. F. Chen, E.K. Hoffman, R. W. Scott, C. J. Epstein & P. H. Chan: Reduction of CuZn-superoxide dismutase activity exacerbates neuronal cell injury and edema formation after transient focal cerebral ischemia. *J Neurosci*, 17, 4180-9 (1997)
- 70. Manley, G. T., M. Fujimura, T. Ma, N. Noshita, F. Filiz, A. W. Bollen, P. Chan & A. S. Verkman: Aquaporin-4 deletion in mice reduces brain edema after acute water intoxication and ischemic stroke. *Nat Med*, 6, 159-63 (2000)
- 71. Hoehn, B., T. M. Ringer, L. Xu, R. G. Giffard, R. M. Sapolsky, G. K. Steinberg & M. A. Yenari: Overexpression of HSP72 after induction of experimental stroke protects neurons from ischemic damage. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab*, 21, 1303-9 (2001)
- 72. Yenari, M. A., S. L. Fink, G. H. Sun, L. K. Chang, M. K. Patel, D. M. Kunis, D. Onley, D. Y. Ho, R. M. Sapolsky & G. K. Steinberg: Gene therapy with HSP72 is neuroprotective in rat models of stroke and epilepsy. *Ann Neurol*, 44, 584-91 (1998)
- 73. Reiter, R. J., R. M. Sainz, S. Lopez-Burillo, J. C. Mayo, L. C. Manchester & D. X. Tan: Melatonin ameliorates neurologic damage and neurophysiologic deficits in experimental models of stroke. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 993, 35-47; discussion 48-53 (2003)
- 74. Gunnett, C. A. & D. D. Heistad: The future of gene therapy for stroke. *Curr Hypertens Rep*, 3, 36-40 (2001)
- 75. Gupta, A., D. Y. Ho, S. Brooke, L. Franklin, M. Roy, J. McLaughlin, S. L. Fink & R. M. Sapolsky: Neuroprotective effects of an adenoviral vector expressing the glucose transporter: a detailed description of the mediating cellular events. *Brain Res*, 908, 49-57 (2001)

- 76. Ho, D. Y., T. C. Saydam, S. L. Fink, M. S. Lawrence & R. M. Sapolsky: Defective herpes simplex virus vectors expressing the rat brain glucose transporter protect cultured neurons from necrotic insults. *J Neurochem*, 65, 842-50 (1995)
- 77. Yenari, M. A., M. Minami, G. H. Sun, T. J. Meier, D. M. Kunis, J. R. McLaughlin, D. Y. Ho, R. M. Sapolsky & G. K. Steinberg: Calbindin d28k overexpression protects striatal neurons from transient focal cerebral ischemia. *Stroke*, 32, 1028-35 (2001)
- 78. Touzani, O., H. Boutin, J. Chuquet & N. Rothwell: Potential mechanisms of interleukin-1 involvement in cerebral ischaemia. *J Neuroimmunol*, 100, 203-15 (1999)
- 79. Rothwell, N. J. & G. N. Luheshi: Interleukin 1 in the brain: biology, pathology and therapeutic target. *Trends Neurosci*, 23, 618-25 (2000)
- 80. Boutin, H., R. A. LeFeuvre, R. Horai, M. Asano, Y. Iwakura & N. J. Rothwell: Role of IL-1alpha and IL-1beta in ischemic brain damage. *J Neurosci*, 21, 5528-34 (2001)
- 81. Eisenberg, S. P., M. T. Brewer, E. Verderber, P. Heimdal, B. J. Brandhuber & R. C. Thompson: Interleukin 1 receptor antagonist is a member of the interleukin 1 gene family: evolution of a cytokine control mechanism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 88, 5232-6 (1991)
- 82. Yang, G. Y., Y. J. Zhao, B. L. Davidson & A. L. Betz: Overexpression of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in the mouse brain reduces ischemic brain injury. *Brain Res*, 751, 181-8 (1997)
- 83. Yang, G. Y., X. H. Liu, C. Kadoya, Y. J. Zhao, Y. Mao, B. L. Davidson & A. L. Betz: Attenuation of ischemic inflammatory response in mouse brain using an adenoviral vector to induce overexpression of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab*, 18, 840-7 (1998)
- 84. Yang, G. Y., Y. Mao, L. F. Zhou, C. Gong, H. L. Ge & A. L. Betz: Expression of intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) is reduced in permanent focal cerebral ischemic mouse brain using an adenoviral vector to induce overexpression of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res*, 65, 143-50 (1999)
- 85. Okada, Y., B. R. Copeland, E. Mori, M. M. Tung, W. S. Thomas & G. J. del Zoppo: P-selectin and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 expression after focal brain ischemia and reperfusion. *Stroke*, 25, 202-11 (1994)
- 86. Wang, X., A. L. Siren, Y. Liu, T. L. Yue, F. C. Barone & G. Z. Feuerstein: Upregulation of intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) on brain microvascular endothelial cells in rat ischemic cortex. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res*, 26, 61-8 (1994)
- 87. Wang, X., T. L. Yue, F. C. Barone & G. Z. Feuerstein: Demonstration of increased endothelial-leukocyte adhesion molecule-1 mRNA expression in rat ischemic cortex. *Stroke*, 26, 1665-8; discussion 1668-9 (1995)
- 88. Haring, H. P., B. S. Akamine, R. Habermann, J. A. Koziol & G. J. Del Zoppo: Distribution of integrin-like immunoreactivity on primate brain microvasculature. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, 55, 236-45 (1996)
- 89. Chen, H., M. Chopp, R. L. Zhang, G. Bodzin, Q. Chen, J. R. Rusche & R. F. Todd, 3rd: Anti-CD11b monoclonal antibody reduces ischemic cell damage after transient focal cerebral ischemia in rat. *Ann Neurol*, 35, 458-63 (1994)
- 90. Zhang, R. L., M. Chopp, Y. Li, C. Zaloga, N. Jiang, M. L. Jones, M. Miyasaka & P. A. Ward: Anti-ICAM-1

- antibody reduces ischemic cell damage after transient middle cerebral artery occlusion in the rat. *Neurology*, 44, 1747-51 (1994)
- 91. Zhang, R. L., Z. G. Zhang & M. Chopp: Increased therapeutic efficacy with rt-PA and anti-CD18 antibody treatment of stroke in the rat. *Neurology*, 52, 273-9 (1999) 92. Lawrence, M. S., J. R. McLaughlin, G. H. Sun, D. Y. Ho, L. McIntosh, D. M. Kunis, R. M. Sapolsky & G. K. Steinberg: Herpes simplex viral vectors expressing Bcl-2 are neuroprotective when delivered after a stroke. *J Cereb*
- 93. Roy, M., J. Hom & R. M. Sapolsky: Neuroprotection with herpes simplex vectors expressing virally derived antiapoptotic agents. *Brain Res*, 901, 12-22 (2001)

Blood Flow Metab, 17, 740-4 (1997)

- 94. Sun, Y., K. Jin, K. R. Clark, A. Peel, X. O. Mao, Q. Chang, R. P. Simon & D. A. Greenberg: Adeno-associated virus-mediated delivery of BCL-w gene improves outcome after transient focal cerebral ischemia. *Gene Ther*, 10, 115-22 (2003)
- 95. Lin, L. F., D. H. Doherty, J. D. Lile, S. Bektesh & F. Collins: GDNF: a glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor for midbrain dopaminergic neurons. *Science*, 260, 1130-2 (1993)
- 96. Kitagawa, H., K. Abe, T. Hayashi, Y. Mitsumoto, N. Koga & Y. Itoyama: Ameliorative effect of glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor on brain edema formation after permanent middle cerebral artery occlusion in rats. *Neurol Res*, 20, 333-6 (1998)
- 97. Kitagawa, H., T. Hayashi, Y. Mitsumoto, N. Koga, Y. Itoyama & K. Abe: Reduction of ischemic brain injury by topical application of glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor after permanent middle cerebral artery occlusion in rats. *Stroke*, 29, 1417-22 (1998)
- 98. Wang, Y., S. Z. Lin, A. L. Chiou, L. R. Williams & B. J. Hoffer: Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor protects against ischemia-induced injury in the cerebral cortex. *J Neurosci*, 17, 4341-8 (1997)
- 99. Lin, T. N., P. Y. Wang, S. I. Chi & J. S. Kuo: Differential regulation of ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF) and CNTF receptor alpha (CNTFR alpha) expression following focal cerebral ischemia. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res*, 55, 71-80 (1998)
- 100. Hermann, D. M., E. Kilic, S. Kugler, S. Isenmann & M. Bahr: Adenovirus-mediated GDNF and CNTF pretreatment protects against striatal injury following transient middle cerebral artery occlusion in mice. *Neurobiol Dis*, 8, 655-66 (2001)
- 101. Ay, H., I. Ay, W. J. Koroshetz & S. P. Finklestein: Potential usefulness of basic fibroblast growth factor as a treatment for stroke. *Cerebrovasc Dis*, 9, 131-5 (1999)
- 102. Hayashi, T., K. Abe & Y. Itoyama: Reduction of ischemic damage by application of vascular endothelial growth factor in rat brain after transient ischemia. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab*, 18, 887-95 (1998)
- 103. Shyu, W. C., S. Z. Lin, M. F. Chiang, H. I. Yang, P. Thajeb & H. Li: Neuregulin-1 reduces ischemia-induced brain damage in rats. *Neurobiol Aging*, 25, 935-44 (2004)
- 104. Duan, D., Y. Yue & J. F. Engelhardt: Expanding AAV packaging capacity with trans-splicing or overlapping vectors: a quantitative comparison. *Mol Ther*, 4, 383-91 (2001)
- 105. Goncalves, M. A., M. G. Pau, A. A. de Vries & D. Valerio: Generation of a high-capacity hybrid vector:

packaging of recombinant adenoassociated virus replicative intermediates in adenovirus capsids overcomes the limited cloning capacity of adenoassociated virus vectors. *Virology*, 288, 236-46 (2001)

- 106. Duan, D., Y. Yue, Z. Yan & J. F. Engelhardt: A new dual-vector approach to enhance recombinant adenoassociated virus-mediated gene expression through intermolecular cis activation. *Nat Med*, 6, 595-8 (2000)
- 107. Clark, K. R.: Recent advances in recombinant adenoassociated virus vector production. *Kidney Int*, 61 Suppl 1, 9-15 (2002)
- 108. Qiao, C., J. Li, A. Skold, X. Zhang & X. Xiao: Feasibility of generating adeno-associated virus packaging cell lines containing inducible adenovirus helper genes. *J Virol*, 76, 1904-13 (2002)
- 109. Peng, K. W. & S. J. Russell: Viral vector targeting. *Curr Opin Biotechnol*, 10, 454-7 (1999)
- 110. Wickham, T. J.: Targeting adenovirus. *Gene Ther*, 7, 110-4 (2000)
- 111. Tebbutt, S. J.: Technology evaluation: AAV-CFTR vector, targeted genetics. *Curr Opin Mol Ther*, 1, 524-9 (1999)
- 112. Monahan, P. E. & R. J. Samulski: AAV vectors: is clinical success on the horizon? *Gene Ther*, 7, 24-30 (2000) 113. Isner, J. M.: Myocardial gene therapy. *Nature*, 415, 234-9 (2002)
- 114. Bellomo, M., E. B. Adamo, B. Deodato, M. A. Catania, C. Mannucci, H. Marini, M. C. Marciano, R. Marini, S. Sapienza, M. Giacca, A. P. Caputi, F. Squadrito & G. Calapai: Enhancement of expression of vascular endothelial growth factor after adeno-associated virus gene transfer is associated with improvement of brain ischemia injury in the gerbil. *Pharmacol Res*, 48, 309-17 (2003)
- 115. Khurana, R., J. F. Martin & I. Zachary: Gene therapy for cardiovascular disease: a case for cautious optimism. *Hypertension*, 38, 1210-6 (2001)
- 116. Morishita, R., G. H. Gibbons, K. E. Ellison, M. Nakajima, H. von der Leyen, L. Zhang, Y. Kaneda, T. Ogihara & V. J. Dzau: Intimal hyperplasia after vascular injury is inhibited by antisense cdk 2 kinase oligonucleotides. *J Clin Invest*, 93, 1458-64 (1994)
- 117. Arnold, T. E., D. Gnatenko & W. F. Bahou: In vivo gene transfer into rat arterial walls with novel adeno-associated virus vectors. *J Vasc Surg*, 25, 347-55 (1997)
- 118. Jiang, W., W. Gu, T. Brannstrom, R. Rosqvist & P. Wester: Cortical neurogenesis in adult rats after transient middle cerebral artery occlusion. *Stroke*, 32, 1201-7 (2001)

Abbreviations: 3VO: three vessels occlusion, BrdUrd: bromodeoxyuridine, CCA: common carotid artey, cDNA: complementary DNA,CNS: central nervous system, CTL: cytotoxic T-lymphocyte, GDNF: Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor, HSV-1: herpes simplex virus type-1, ICAM-1: Intercellular adhesion molecule-1, IL-1: Interleukin-1, IL-1Ra: interleukin-1 receptor antagonist, ICA: internal carotid artery, MCAO: middle cerebral artery occlusion, SAG: sensitive to apoptosis gene, TGF-β: tumor growth facto-β, NRG-1: Neuregulin-1, rAAV: recombinant adeno-associated virus, VEGF: vascular endothelial growth factor.

Key Words: Brain, Nervous system, Neruron, Adenovirus, Adeno-associated virus, Cytokine, GDNF, IL-1Ra, Stroke, rat, Apoptosis, Review

Send Correspondence to: Dr Yeou-Ping Tsao, Department of Ophthalmology, Mackay Memorial Hospital, Taipei, Taiwan, 92 Sec2 Chung Shan N Rd, Taipei 10449, Taiwan, Te;: 886-2- 25433535, Fax 886-2-25433642, E-mail: yptsao@yahoo.com

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol11.htm